09343-6

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 14, 2015, 3:19 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-M. No. SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 71544-5-1 COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION I** CITY OF KENT, Appellant, and BEL AIR & BRINEY, a general partnership; NICK BRINEY, a single man; and ROGER B. BEL AIR and CANDACE A. BEL AIR, husband and wife, Respondents. PETITION FOR REVIEW Thomas F. Peterson, WSBA #16587 Eleanor H. Walstad, WSBA #44241 SOCIUS LAW GROUP, PLLC Attorneys for City of Kent



Two Union Square

206.838.9100

601 Union Street, Suite 4950 Seattle, WA 98101.3951

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The City of Kent ("Kent"), respondent, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its decision on September 14, 2015. Kent seeks review of that portion of the decision reversing the trial court, and finding that Kent may not foreclose its equitable lien. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does an owner of real property with an equitable lien thereon have the right to foreclose the lien?
- 2. Does Kent have the right to foreclose its equitable lien by means of a sheriff's sale?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

1. Kent planned to build a community pool

The plaintiff-respondent, Kent, began purchasing properties on a certain city block in Kent, Washington to develop an Aquatic Center in 2006. CP 69, ¶ 13. Kent entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement dated November 26, 2006 with Hoang Tran, the owner of one of the properties on the block. CP 68-69, ¶¶ 7 and 14.

2. Bel Air & Briney made a hard-money loan to Ms. Tran

The defendant-appellant, Bel Air & Briney, a general partnership, is a hard-money lender. CP 65, ¶ 1; CP 117, ¶ 1.

In June 2007, Bel Air & Briney loaned \$134,000 to Ms. Tran and two other individuals at a 12 percent interest rate. CP 66, ¶ 2; CP 73; CP 118, ¶ 4. The loan term was six months, with monthly interest-only payments with a balloon payment due on December 13, 2007. *Id.* Bel Air & Briney granted two six-month extensions to December 13, 2008, imposing a seven percent loan fee each time. CP 66, ¶¶ 3-4; CP 118, ¶ 7.

Bel Air & Briney received regular monthly payments from Ms. Tran from July 2007 through July 2008. CP 66, ¶ 5; CP 118, ¶ 7. It also received a payment in October 2008 which included a late fee. *Id.*

3. Bel Air & Briney's deed of trust was in second position

Bel Air & Briney secured its loan with a deed of trust recorded on June 15, 2007 which encumbered four properties. CP 66-68, ¶ 6; CP 118, ¶ 5. Bel Air & Briney knew that its deed of trust would be in a junior position on each property. CP 68-69, ¶ 8; CP 118, ¶ 5. It was in second-position behind a deed of trust securing a \$189,000 debt on the property which is the subject of this lawsuit. CP 69, ¶ 12; CP 118, ¶ 5.

4. Kent purchased the property and paid off MortgageIt's loan

Three months before Bel Air & Briney recorded its deed of trust in June 2007, Kent received a preliminary commitment for title insurance. CP 69-70, ¶ 17. The preliminary commitment included a special exception for a 2005 deed of trust to MortgageIt, securing a loan for \$189,000. *Id.* It did not include an exception for Bel Air & Briney's deed of trust, which had not yet been recorded. CP 70, ¶ 18.

Ms. Tran did not inform Kent of Bel Air & Briney's deed of trust at any time. CP 70, ¶ 21.

The sale of the property from Ms. Tran to Kent closed on January 31, 2008. CP 69, ¶ 15. Kent paid cash of \$392,500. *Id.* MortgageIt was paid \$196,894.17 from the sale proceeds in satisfaction of its outstanding lien. CP 70, ¶ 19. Ms. Tran received \$193,499.50. CP 69, ¶ 15.

5. Four years after Ms. Tran ceased making payments, Mr. Briney researched the status of the property

In July 2012, almost four years later after Ms. Trans' last payment and four and a half years after the sale, Mr. Briney contacted Kent about Bel Air & Briney's deed of trust. CP 70, ¶¶ 22 and 23; CP 120, ¶ 13. It was the first time Kent learned of the deed of trust. CP 70, ¶ 23.

Bel Air & Briney took no actions in reliance on the reconveyance of the MortgageIt deed of trust. CP 70, ¶ 24.

Kent obtained an appraisal stating that the property's fair market value on October 30, 2012 was \$110,000. CP 71, ¶ 26; CP 120-21, ¶ 15.

B. Procedural History

1. The trial court granted Kent an equitable lien

On January 21, 2014, the trial court entered an order granting Kent's motion for summary judgment and denying Bel Air & Briney's motion. CP 221-26 (Order); CP 15-64 and 151-165 for Respondent; CP 98-116, 117-150, and 166-220 for Appellants. The court stated that, "[w]hile the court is troubled by the present situation, where both the City and BAB were in effect innocent victims of market forces, it appears from the appellate decisions in Washington State that the doctrine of equitable subrogation should be applied in this case." CP 225. In analyzing the equities, the court concluded that "BAB would indeed have experienced an unearned windfall at the time of the City's purchase of the property, if BAB's security interest in the property advanced to first-position solely because the City caused the first mortgage to be satisfied as a condition of its purchase of the property." *Id*.

2. Bel Air & Briney appealed the summary judgment order granting equitable subrogation

Bel Air & Briney filed a motion for reconsideration of the order and a notice of appeal of the summary judgment order simultaneously. CP

235-242; CP 227-234. The motion was denied on April 9, 2014. CP 282-

284. The court stated it:

is unable to find that applying the doctrine of equitable subrogation is prejudicial to the defendants in this case to the degree that equitable subrogation should not be applied.

the defendants would have received an unearned windfall if the doctrine of equitable subrogation were not applied. While the City likely would have required BAB's lien to be satisfied from the sale proceeds if the City had known of BAB's security interest at or before closing, the City had no affirmative duty to do so. Moreover, BAB was not prejudiced by the City's purchase of the property, since BAB's security interest remained precisely the same as it would have been if the City had not purchased the property. The subsequent decline in Parcel C's value was not the fault of any party, and BAB has not cited any authority in support of its argument that equity requires the court to assign the risk of loss to the City because the City had title insurance, which presumably would be liable to the City for the amount of BAB's security interest.

CP 282-83 (emphasis in original).

At the same time it entered its order, the trial court entered a judgment in favor of Kent, although it had not been presented to the court. CP 285-288; CP 295-296, ¶¶2-5. The judgment ordered equitable subrogation in favor of Kent:

ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECREED that City of Kent is equitably subrogated in the amount of \$196,894.17 to the first-position lien held by MortgageIt as of January 30, 2008...

ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECREED that any interest in the Property held by Bel Air & Briney is subordinate to City of Kent's lien on the Property...

CP 286.

In addition to ordering equitable subrogation in favor of Kent, the judgment also ordered foreclosure of Kent's equitable lien by means of a sheriff's sale. CP 287.

3. Bel Air & Briney appealed the order granting Kent the right to foreclose its equitable lien

Bel Air & Briney filed a motion for reconsideration of the judgment. CP 289-294. It argued that Kent could not foreclose its equitable lien. *Id.* The court reversed course, stating "the portions of the Judgment (pp 3-4) that grant the City the right to foreclose on its equitable mortgage are vacated and stricken," and granted the motion. CP 346-348.

The next day, May 15, 2014, Bel Air & Briney sent a Notice of Default to the last known addresses of Ms. Tran and the other grantors, and posted the Notice of Default on the property. CP 364-374.

Kent filed a motion for reconsideration of the court's order granting the motion for reconsideration and amending the judgment. CP 349-361. The court granted Kent's motion, stating that it was "persuaded that without the remedy of foreclosure, the City's equitable mortgage is essentially worthless." CP 405-407. The trial court then entered an Amended Judgment, ordering foreclosure of Kent's equitable lien by means of a sheriff's sale. CP 408-412.

Bel Air & Briney filed a supplemental notice of appeal of the Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration and Amended Judgment. CP 413-422.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

What the Court of Appeals' decision gives with one hand, it takes away with the other. In the first part of its decision, the court correctly applied the precedent established by this Court in recent equitable subrogation cases and held that equitable subrogation should be applied to give Kent an equitable lien with priority over Bel Air & Briney's deed of trust to the extent of Kent's payment of the MortgageIt note. Appendix pp. 11-16. However, in the second part of its decision, it eviscerates the doctrine of equitable subrogation by holding that Kent has no right to foreclose the very equitable lien it had acknowledged. The Court of Appeals' decision is irreconcilable with the very doctrine of equitable subrogation itself. Foreclosure is the *sine qua non* of a lien. Without the right to foreclose, an equitable subrogation is nothing at all and the doctrine is entirely ineffective because Bel Air & Briney will reap an unearned windfall anyway.

Accordingly, the holding is inconsistent with the equitable subrogation jurisprudence carefully crafted by the Washington Supreme Court over the past fourteen years. It also conflicts with other appellate

decisions which followed the precedent set by the Washington Supreme Court, including the first part of the very decision at hand. Finally, the Court of Appeals' decision eliminating the remedy associated with equitable subrogation presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. In recent cases, the Court has developed the doctrine of equitable subrogation in Washington as a means to prevent unjust enrichment in certain real estate transactions. By eliminating the remedy, the Court of Appeals has restored opportunities for unearned windfalls causing harm to lenders and the public.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Presents a Conflict with this Court's Prior Decisions Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)

In the past fourteen years, the Court has decided three significant equitable subrogation cases. In each case, the Court advanced the doctrine, adopting a liberal application to prevent unjust enrichment.

In 2001, in *Kim v. Lee*, the Court adopted the doctrine of equitable subrogation in the mortgage refinance context as set forth in the *Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages § 7.3.* 145 Wn.2d 79, 31 P.3d 665 (2001), as amended (Dec. 12, 2001), opinion corrected, 43 P.3d 1222 (Wash. 2001). Although the Court recognized the doctrine, it declined to apply equitable subrogation on the facts of that case.

Six years later, in *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Prestance Corp.*, the Court "define[d] the contours of equitable subrogation." 160 Wn.2d 560, 561,

160 P.3d 17 (2007). The Court held that a refinancing mortgagee's actual or constructive knowledge of intervening liens does not automatically preclude a court from applying the doctrine of equitable subrogation. *Id.* at 579. This holding was based upon the Court's adoption of § 7.6 of the *Restatement (Third) of Property. Id.* at 582. However, the Court limited its holding by stating it only adopted § 7.6 for the purposes of resolving the question of knowledge. *Id.*

Regardless of this limitation, the Court expressly stated that it was following "the more liberal approach." *Prestance Corp.*, 160 Wn.2d at 576. The Court gave two policy reasons for this. First, the court explained that "by facilitating more refinancing, equitable subrogation helps stem the threat of foreclosure." *Id.* at 580. Second, the Court asserted that "a liberal equitable subrogation doctrine can save billions of dollars by reducing title insurance premiums" and that those savings would be passed on to homeowners. *Id.* at 580-81.

Another six years later, in *Columbia Cmty. Bank v. Newman Park, LLC*, the Court adopted § 7.6 of the *Restatement (Third)* in full. 177 Wn. 2d 566, 580, 304 P.3d 472 (2013). In that case, the Court applied the doctrine more broadly than for the determination of priorities among competing lenders. Specifically, the Court held that a lender who was tricked into loaning money secured by a lien on property that the borrower

lacked authority to encumber could invoke equitable subrogation to step into the shoes of a paid-off senior mortgagee, even though the lender had no preexisting interest in the property. *Id.* at 569.

The Court acknowledged that the public benefit of liberalizing equitable subrogation may have been overstated in *Prestance*, but did not retreat from the liberal approach itself, explaining that it is "the more simple and clear approach," "consistent with our recent prior case law," and "effective." *Id.* at 580.

In each of these cases, the Court, adhering to the liberal application of the doctrine of equitable subrogation, did not limit the rights of an equitably subrogated party in the mortgage loan context as compared to those of any other lienholder. Importantly, the Court did not apply the doctrine to benefit a party but then limit the equitably subrogated party's rights as a lienholder, such as by denying it the right to foreclose the lien.

However, this is precisely what the Court of Appeals did when it held that equitable subrogation does not carry with it a remedy. Appendix pp. 11-16. This holding is based upon a fundamental fallacy borrowed from an equally fallacious decision of the Arizona Supreme Court. Both courts seem to think that, absent a right to foreclose, the holder of an equitable lien retains some right to get paid from a subsequent sale. The Court of Appeals, laboring under this glaring misconception about the

essential nature of liens, explained, "[t]he equitable purpose of subrogation is fully served by permitting the City to succeed to first position with priority to right of proceeds, in the amount of its equitable lien, from any sale." Id. at p. 15 (emphasis added). That view is completely wrong.

The only way to enforce a lien is through foreclosure. There is no "right to proceeds from a sale," other than that established by private contract. There is no statute or common law principal that compels a party to a real estate transaction to pay off a lien in a sale. It is not a crime to sell real estate without paying off all liens. The recorder's office does not reject the recording of a deed because a lien was not paid off. The treasurer's office, which collects excise tax before a deed can be recorded, does not require that liens be paid off. Escrow agents are bound by their escrow instructions, so an escrow agent will not pay off a lien in closing unless the parties to the transaction instruct it to do so. Normally, a purchase and sale contract will provide for the delivery of clear title, but there is nothing that compels the parties to enter into such an agreement.

¹An escrow company has a duty to follow the instructions of the seller and purchaser. Denaxas v. Sandstone Court of Bellevue, L.L.C., 148 Wn.2d 654, 663, 63 P.3d 125, 129 (2003). After Bel Air & Briney forecloses its lien and takes title to the property, Kent will not have standing to object to escrow instructions from Bel Air & Briney and its purchaser ordering a payout without any proceeds for Kent.

The one and only reason that parties agree to pay off a lien in the context of a sale is because, if they do not do so, the lienholder can foreclose and eliminate the buyer's title.² But a payoff will not happen if the lien cannot be foreclosed as there will be no incentive or reason for anyone to do so. Without foreclosure, there is nothing—no fines, no rejection of the sale by the offices of the recorder or treasurer, no instructions to the escrow company, no prosecution for violation of a criminal statute—that will compel anyone to pay off the lien.

The Court of Appeals justified its position by citing as persuasive authority a decision from the state of Arizona. But that decision is based upon the same misconception that a lienholder without a remedy somehow gets paid from the proceeds of a sale.³ In its decision, the Court of Appeals does not explain how or why Kent will have a "right to proceeds . . from any sale." Of course it could not do so because a lien does not

² The owner usually loses its title to the property at a foreclosure sale because the foreclosing lienholder makes a credit bid in the amount it is owed and the owner is unlikely to bid more than this amount. (If the owner had the amount necessary to pay off the lienholder, it would have done so before the lienholder foreclosed.) This is especially common where the value of the property is less than the lien, as is the case here. Alternatively, a third party can outbid the credit bid, but again, the owner loses its title to this highest bidder.

³ The Arizona Supreme Court made the same incorrect assumption in *Sourcecorp, Inc. v. Norcutt* (Appendix pp. 20-27), stating that, "it is not appropriate to confer on the Norcutts a right to 'foreclose' on the interest to which they are subrogated. Instead, the purposes of equitable subrogation are fully served by deeming *the Norcutts to have a priority to proceeds from any sale of the property* in the amount they paid to satisfy the debt" and "[a]pplying equitable subrogation in this manner does not eliminate Sourcecorp's judgment lien." 229 Ariz. 270, 276, 274 P.3d 1204, 1210 (2012), as amended on denial of reconsideration (Apr. 25, 2012) (emphasis added).

create a "right to proceeds . . . from any sale." It creates a right to foreclose and that is all. By eliminating that right in arguably all equitable subrogation cases, the Court of Appeals gutted the doctrine of equitable subrogation. Kent is left with a lien in name only.

Moreover, Bel Air & Briney will reap the windfall the doctrine of equitable subrogation was designed to prevent. Bel Air & Briney can foreclose its lien, eliminate Kent's title, and resell the property for full value because the buyer will have no fear of losing its property in a subsequent foreclosure by Kent and therefore no reason to direct that any of the proceeds of the sale be paid to Kent.⁴

The Court of Appeals does not cite any Washington authority in support of its decision. Instead, it argues that Kent (and for that matter any equitable subrogation lienholder) cannot foreclose because, the court claims, there is no Washington authority permitting such foreclosure. But the court brushes off several Washington cases in which the Court held that an equitable lienholder can foreclose.

In a recent case, Worden v. Smith, the appellate court stated that the equitably subrogated party had "the remedy of foreclosure" and

⁴ If a subordinate lienholder forecloses, the senior lien is unaffected. It does not get paid off and the senior lienholder has no statutory or other right to demand a payoff. The lien merely continues to encumber the property subject to subsequent foreclosure which cannot happen under the Court of Appeals' decision.

remanded "with instructions to enter an order imposing and foreclosing a lien." 176 Wn. App. 309, 332, 314 P.3d 1125 (2013). In *Worden*, the equitably subrogated party was a bank that paid the taxes and assessments on the owner's interest in its property. *Id.* Similarly, in 1940 in *Olson v. Chapman*, the Supreme Court of Washington expressly stated that the party in whose favor it granted equitable subrogation was entitled to "a decree foreclosing the lien." 4 Wn.2d 522, 539, 104 P.2d 344 (1940). In *Olson*, a tenant in common paid the taxes on another owner's interest in the property. *Id.* 5

The Court of Appeals distinguished those cases by contending that, in those cases, the lienholder foreclosed to collect its lien "to recover the amounts owed," and in this case, Kent wants to "foreclose for the sole purpose of eliminating a subordinate lien." Appendix p. 12. Again, this analysis reveals a fundamental lack of understanding about the nature of liens and the foreclosure process. In *all* cases of foreclosure by a senior lien, the subordinate liens are extinguished (as well as the foreclosed

⁵ See also Burgert v. Carolina, 31 Wash. 62, 64, 71 P. 74 (1903) (complaint stated a cause of action where plaintiff sought "to have the amount paid by her as taxes declared a lien... and to have the lien foreclosed and the land sold to satisfy the same"); City of Spokane v. Security Savings Soc., 46 Wash. 150, 89 P. 466 (1907) ("awarding the respondent a lien upon appellants' lot for the delinquent general taxes paid...if they be not so paid, an order of sale issue on behalf of the respondent for the enforcement of its lien"); Stone v. Marshall, 52 Wash. 375, 379, 100 P.858 (1909) ("Stone by the payment of the tax...acquired a lien on the respondents' interests for their just proportion of the taxes so paid, which he could have foreclosed").

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