RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 12, 2015, 3:10 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 92373-6
SUPREME COURT
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 71544-5-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF KENT,

Appellant,

and

BEL AIR & BRINEY, A General Partnership; NICK BRINEY, A Single Man; and ROGER BELAIR, A Married Man,

Respondents.

BRIEF IN RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE HUNSINGER LAW FIRM Attorney for Respondents BEL AIR & BRINEY; NICK BRINEY; AND ROGER BELAIR

By: MICHAEL D. HUNSINGER WSBA NO. 7662

100 South King Street, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 624-1177



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

P.3d _____ (09/14/15), 2015 WL 5330512, the Court of

Appeals upheld the trial court's award of an equitable lien to Kent
in the amount it paid to satisfy the first deed of trust to prevent the
alleged "windfall" Bel Air & Briney would have otherwise received
by moving from second to first in lien priority, citing *Prestance* and

Newman Park.

In its Petition at page seven, Kent acknowledges, as it must, that it must prove that "Bel Air & Briney will reap an unearned windfall . . ." in order for equitable subrogation to apply. However, the City never explains how Bel Air & Briney would receive such an "unearned windfall"; instead it bases its Petition on its irrelevant claim that it will be harmed if equitable subrogation is not applied.

It is undisputed that:

- Since 2007 Bel Air & Briney has had a second deed of trust against Parcel C securing the Tran debt;
- Had Tran defaulted on the debt secured by the first deed of trust, Mortgagelt could have foreclosed and unless Bel Air & Briney paid the amount the lender was owed at the trustee's sale (\$196.894.17 as of January 31, 2008), its second deed of trust would have been extinguished;

- Instead, in January 2008 the first deed of trust was paid in full;
- Tran defaulted on the debt to Bel Air & Briney in late 2008;
- Bel Air & Briney has the right to foreclose on its second deed of trust;
- If Bel Air & Briney forecloses, at the trustee's sale it will have
 the right to "credit bid" the amount it is owed and if neither
 the owner (Kent) nor any third party pays more than that
 amount, Bel Air & Briney will take title to Parcel C. (Petition,
 p. 12);
- However, no third party will purchase Parcel C at the sale because in addition to paying the purchase price, the prospective buyer's ownership interest will be subject to Kent's senior lien of \$196,894.17. (Petition, p. 13) Bel Air & Briney will therefore very probably take title to the property.

Kent contends in its Petition at page 13 that if it is allowed to foreclose its deed of trust Bel Air & Briney "will reap the windfall" because it could "foreclose its lien, eliminate Kent's title, and resell the property for full value because the buyer will have no fear of losing its property in a subsequent foreclosure by Kent and therefore no reason to direct that any of the proceeds of the sale

be paid to Kent." (emphasis added)

The proposition that BelAir & Briney could resell the property for full value is absurd, because its ownership will be subject to the City of Kent's equitable senior lien. According to the record before this Court, "the full value" of Parcel C is \$110,000. The first \$196,894.17 in net proceeds from any sale (after deductions for real estate excise taxes and up to 10% of the gross sale price in closing costs) will be paid to Kent in order for the buyer to obtain clear title. (CP 388)

Having the right to foreclose on a lien to take title to a piece of property worth \$110,000 that is encumbered by a \$197,000 lien owned by someone else could not possibly constitute a "windfall" to Bel Air & Briney, and thus even under the most liberal application of §7.6, equitable subrogation is not appropriate.

Moreover, allowing Kent to foreclose would *materially prejudice* Bel Air & Briney, an outcome this Court stated "should never be allowed" in *Prestance*, at 572. If Kent foreclosed on its senior lien, it would "credit bid" its \$197,000 lien and receive title to the property free and clear of all liens unless someone paid more, in cash, at the auction. Bel Air & Briney would not throw \$197,000 in good money after the unpaid \$134,000 loan it had already made

to Tran on property that Kent contends is worth \$110,000, and no third party would pay \$197,000 for that "opportunity" either.

Under Kent's proposed scenario, Bel Air & Briney's second deed of trust would be extinguished, causing it to lose its only chance to perhaps some day recover a small portion of its loss, by holding onto the property unless or until a buyer was willing to pay more than \$197,000 for the property: Bel Air & Briney would be entitled to the (probably meager) surplus.

As stated earlier in this Response, in *Prestance* this Court explained that because of the risks of foreclosure of the first-priority mortgagee, ". . . second-priority mortgages often include terms to help alleviate this risk, such as higher interest rates" *Id.*, p. 565, fn. 4. But Bel Air & Briney did not believe, nor would any other junior lender believe, that it could also face the risk of foreclosure of a senior deed of trust *that not only had never been in default, but had been paid in full.* Few if any lenders would ever make a loan under such circumstances. But that is the outcome Kent seeks here. There is no reason to believe that Tran ever missed a payment to Mortgagelt, and he timely made every payment to Bel Air & Briney through the date of the sale. And yet, Kent wants to foreclose on that senior lien, extinguishing Bel Air & Briney's

second deed of trust.

As Kent states in its Petition at page 9, in *Prestance* at page 580 this Court stated that one of the public policy reasons for applying a liberal approach to equitable subrogation was that "by facilitating more refinancing, equitable subrogation helps stem the threat of foreclosure."

Here, however, public policy mitigates strongly <u>against</u> granting Kent's request for equitable subrogation. The facts of this case are limited to instances where a purchaser (not a refinancing lender) pays off a senior lienholder but a junior lienholder's debt is not satisfied due to the title insurer's error. Under this Court's liberal application of §7.6, the purchaser/owner will be equitably subrogated in the amount of the purchase price used to satisfy the senior lienholder. If this Court were to allow that owner to foreclose its senior equitable lien to extinguish the junior lien, even though the senior lien was never in default and was in fact fully paid off, willingness to lend money to owners of property in return for a second deed of trust will be severely limited.

Every case in the state of Washington in which equitable subrogation has been applied prevented a property owner or junior lienholder from reaping a clear and obvious unearned windfall.

Here, Bel Air & Briney will receive no windfall whatsoever if it is not applied, and it will be materially prejudiced if it is imposed.

C. Moreover, Here the Holder of the Equitable Lien Also Owns the Property, Granting Kent Significant Benefits Not Available to the Equitable Lienholders in the Other Equitable Subrogation Cases.

In every case cited by Kent, equitable subrogation was awarded to someone who did not own the property encumbered by the equitable lien. This is a critical distinction from the facts in this case.

In its Petition, Kent claims that "[f]oreclosure is the *sine qua non* of a lien." (page 7); "the only way to enforce a lien is through foreclosure" (page 11); "[w]ithout foreclosure, there is nothing . . . that will compel anyone to pay off the lien" (p. 12); and "a lien does not create a 'right to proceeds from . . . any sale'. It creates a right to foreclose and that is all." (p. 13)

Each of those statements is probably true with respect to those who were awarded equitable liens in *Burgett, City of Spokane, Stone, Olson, Prestance, Newman Park,* and *Worden.* In each case someone else owned the property (in *Olson* and *Stone* the liens were against the interests of the lienholders' co-tenants). If they were denied the right to foreclose on their liens and the

owners of the property made no attempt to clear title by sale or using it as collateral for a loan, the lienholders might be unable to compel the conversion of their liens to real money.

That is, however, not true for the City of Kent. As the owner of Parcel C, it can at any time choose to sell the property and keep the first almost \$197,000 of the proceeds. Kent is technically correct when it disagrees with the statements made by the Court of Appeals below and the Arizona Supreme Court in *Sourcecorp, Inc. v. Norcutt*, 229 Ariz. 270, 276, 274 P.3d 1204 (2012) that the owner will have a right to proceeds "from any sale", noting such would not necessarily be the case if Bel Air & Briney foreclosed on its junior lien. As Kent says in its Petition at page 11, "[t]here is no 'right to proceeds from a sale' other than that established by private contract."

But the City strangely fails to state the obvious: as the owner it has the "right to proceeds from a sale by private contract" by deciding to sell the property for what the property is worth and in so doing, receive the proceeds up to \$196,894.17.

In his concurring opinion, Judge Cox correctly notes that the City "holds two distinct interests in its property": it holds title via the deed from Tran, and it holds a first equitable lien through its

satisfaction of the first deed of trust. *Bel Air & Briney, supra, concurring opinion, pp. 2 – 3* These dual interests distinguish this case from all other equitable subrogation cases the City cites in its Petition.

This is also why the Court of Appeals was correct when it distinguished all the other equitable subrogation cases from this one, because the latter "ordered foreclosure [in order for the petitioners] to recover the amounts owed" whereas here, Kent pursued foreclosure "for the sole purpose of eliminating a subordinate lien." *Id.*, p. 12

It is true, as Kent's Petition states at page 15, that Illustration 21 to §7.6 states that where a purchase is involved and the second lien is not paid off, equitable subrogation is appropriate and the purchaser/senior lienholder "may enforce the first mortgage against [the junior lienholder]."

However, Illustration 21 does not support Kent's claim that it should be allowed to foreclose on its lien because (a) in Illustration 21 the owner lied to the purchaser by stating the property was only encumbered by a first mortgage; and (b) "enforce" the first mortgage does not necessarily mean "foreclose". In fact, Illustration 21 contains a second paragraph that discusses the first paragraph

quoted by Kent in the Petition, explaining merely that "... if the cash price paid by the grantee included the second mortgage balance, subrogation to, rather than extinction of, the first mortgage will result in order to prevent unjust enrichment of the second mortgagee." There is no discussion of the equitable mortgage's "enforcement".

As stated earlier, enforcing the first mortgage includes all priority rights under the recording statute, particularly the right to receive all proceeds from the purchaser's sale of the property of the full amount of the lien before the junior lienholder receives any money. Illustration 21 does not address the issue before this Court, the right to foreclose the equitable lien.

D. Moreover, Kent is Not Prejudiced By Being Prevented from Foreclosing on its Lien Because It Has Up to \$392,000 in Title Insurance With Which to Satisfy Bel Air & Briney's Second Lien.

As stated *supra*, equitable subrogation is simply not available if, as is the case here, it is not necessary to prevent a windfall. But even if there were such a potential windfall, "[t]he doctrine of equitable subrogation is an equitable one, having for its basis of complete and perfect justice between the parties without regard to form, and its purpose and object is the prevention of

injustice . . ." Prestance at 565

Knowing that this Court has so far declined to consider the availability of title insurance as a factor in determining the application of equitable subrogation, the Court of Appeals nevertheless ended its analysis of the equitable purpose of subrogation as follows: "To the extent that Bel Air & Briney's lien adversely affects the City's equity or renders the Property less marketable, we neither address nor foreclose any claims the City may have against its title insurer." *Bel Air & Briney, p. 15*

First American Title Insurance, through its predecessor, insured that Kent obtained clear title when it purchased Parcel C. Kent paid a premium for that insurance policy. The coverage amount was \$392,500, the same amount as the purchase price. First American Title is contractually required to compensate Kent for damages up to \$392,500 caused by its failure to discover the existence of the Bel Air & Briney deed of trust and to ensure that it was reconveyed at the time of closing. That is why First American Title is paying the attorneys who have represented Kent so vigorously in this matter.

Kent paid \$392,500 for clear title to Parcel C. Bel Air & Briney merely wanted, and wants to have, its loan to Tran paid off.

No court, including this one, can compel First American Title to fulfill the objectives of both innocent victims of its error by paying Bel Air & Briney to reconvey its deed of trust, but it makes no sense to fail to take that potential outcome into consideration when deciding whether to agree with Kent's (irrelevant) claim that it will be prejudiced if it is not allowed to foreclose on its equitable lien.

Finally, if this Court believes that review of the Court of Appeals decision would further a substantial public interest, it should also grant review of the Court of Appeals' award of equitable subrogation to Kent in the first place, as its refusal to expressly take into consideration the availability of title insurance ignores "the purpose and object" of equitable subrogation: "the prevention of injustice."

E. There is No Legal Authority for Kent's Foreclosure of its Equitable Lien Via the Sheriff's Sale Statute.

Kent is correct when it states in its Petition at page 16 that its proposal that the sheriff sale statute, RCW 6.21, be used to foreclose on its equitable lien was "in response to a complaint by Bel Air & Briney that it did not know what procedure Kent would use to foreclose."

There were two fundamental reasons for this "complaint" by

Bel Air & Briney. First, there was (and is) not a single case in this state discussing how an equitable lien is to be foreclosed. Kent acknowledged this in its Supplemental Brief in the Court of Appeals at page 8: "[t]he issue of the mechanics of how to foreclose an equitable lien arising under the doctrine of equitable subrogation has apparently not risen to the appellate level in Washington, . . ."

Second, the Judgment authorizing the foreclosure of Kent's equitable lien merely ordered that, "[t[he Property be sold by the Sheriff of King County, Washington, in the manner provided by law for foreclosures and in accordance with the practice of this Court; ...," (CP 280, 410), whatever that meant.

To be fair to Kent and to the trial court, both were attempting to implement a procedure for which there was no statutory authority and no precedent in common law. In its Petition at pages 13 – 14 Kent cites all five cases in which a Washington appellate court has mentioned the possibility of the foreclosure of an equitable lien: Burgert, City of Spokane, Stone, Olson, and Worden, supra. None discusses the process by which foreclosure would take place, none states that foreclosure actually occurred, and none involves an equitable lien held by the owner of the property. Kent was required to invent a process entirely out of whole cloth, the trial court

accepted it, and the Court of Appeals rightly concluded that its use of RCW 6.21 is utterly inapplicable.

Kent is now asking this Court to establish, for the first time in the history of the state of Washington, the appropriate mechanism for the foreclosure of an equitable lien. Presumably, the process for foreclosing an equitable lien granted to a <u>refinancing lender</u> is governed by statutes pertaining to the type of lien involved. But a lien held by the <u>owner</u> of the property is a distinct anomaly: as the Court of Appeals pointed out, foreclosing to remove a junior lien is different (and far more rare and problematic) than foreclosing on a lien to recover money owed by the owner of that property.

It should not be a surprise, therefore, that this is a case of first impression in the state of Washington. It should also not be a surprise that the only published case in all of the United States where §7.6 is applied reached the same conclusion as did the Court of Appeals did here: the owner/equitable lienholder should not be permitted to foreclose, because doing so was not necessary to prevent an unearned windfall by the junior lienholder. Sourcecorp, supra

V. SUMMARY

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